
 November 1, 2022 

Hello Trustees, 

Fall Quarter is well underway. We are looking forward to another vibrant Board meeting with you. A few 
highlights that will be covered at the meeting: 

Introductions 

• There will be far fewer new employee introductions now that we got through all those who accumulated
over the summer.

Presentations 

• You will have an opportunity to learn more about our innovative, dynamic Transitional Studies team.
You’ll hear from: Sean Gomez, English Language Acquisition ELA Professor and Tulsi Marshall,
Transitional Studies graduate and our current Math Center and Tutoring Coordinator.

I am a huge believer in the power of Transitional Studies, including I-BEST and High School+, that give
students the opportunity to earn college credits at the same time they complete remedial work. If we do
our job right, these are our future Associates and Bachelor’s degree graduates!

Standing reports 

• Isaiah Penniston-John, Associated Student Council President
• Lara Starcevich, Faculty Senate First Speaker
• Ethan VanZant, Research Analyst, will provide data on the Core Theme: Achieving Student Success

President’s Report 

• I have a number of updates to share with you. Carie will present the 1st Qtr. Financials. I will present 
information on a variety of topics, ranging from the College's Transforming Lives nominee and new 
instructional program proposals, to an overview of the ACCT Conference and Western Washington 
University news.

Board Chair/Trustee Activities Update 

• You may or may not have anything to add to this agenda item based on interactions you’ve had in
the community that connect to the college

Items for Board Study 

1



• Strategic Plan – At your last meeting, I shared the employee feedback on priorities for the next two
years. At this month’s meeting you will have an opportunity to give me direction on areas of priority
for the last two years of the plan.

• Board Evaluation – At your last meeting I shared this draft that I created by building on the current
version with additions based on other colleges’ survey instruments. We have several months until
this needs to be finalized, so depending on time at this month’s meeting, you can start critiquing it
and keep talking about it at future meetings.

• President’s Evaluation – Similar to the Board Evaluation, I shared this version at your last meeting. I
overhauled the template from the version you used previously, so didn’t bother showing the changes.
Again, you have several months until we’ll use this, so you can take your time finalizing it.

Items for Board Action 

• The list of employees who have requested Emeritus and Meritorious Service Status is ready for your 
approval.

Due to a death in Dwayne’s family, I was not able to review my goals with him while in New York ACCT. I 
will find time to do that with him and share a version with you in the future. 

2



    Meeting of the Board of Trustees
     November 8, 2022 
     Port Angeles, WA 

2:00 p.m. 
Room A-12, Cornaby Center 

Trustees: 
 Dwayne Johnson, Chair 
Mike Maxwell, Vice Chair 
Mike Glenn 
Joe Floyd 
Claire Roney 

ROLL CALL and DETERMINATION OF QUORUM 

MODIFICATION TO THE AGENDA 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
Oct. 11, 2022 

INTRODUCTIONS 

PUBLIC FORUM/CORRESPONDENCE 

PRESENTATIONS 
-Transitional Studies – Sean Gomez, Tulsi Marshall

STANDING REPORTS: 
• ASC – Isaiah Penniston-John
• Senate – Lara Starcevich
• PCFA – Tim Williams
• Institutional/Enrollment Report –Ethan VanZant

PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
-1st Qtr. Financials
-Transforming Lives Nominee
-Recap of ACCT
-Updates

BOARD CHAIR UPDATE 

TRUSTEE ACTIVITIES UPDATE 

ITEMS FOR BOARD STUDY 
Strategic Plan  
Board Self Evaluation 
President Evaluation 

ITEMS FOR BOARD ACTION 
Emeritus Status Awards for Luke Robins and Vicki Sievert 
Meritorious Status Awards for Jan Isett, Nicole Casares and Larry White 

-Tim Atkisson

3



  
EXECUTIVE SESSION - none 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

4



CALL TO ORDER and DETERMINATION OF QUORUM 

Board Chair Dwayne Johnson called the hybrid meeting of the Board of Trustees of Peninsula College to 
order at 2:00pm. Trustees in attendance: Dwayne Johnson, Mike Maxwell, Mike Glenn, Joe Floyd, Claire 
Roney. Also in attendance were Dr. Suzy Ames, President, and Derek Leuzzi, Assistant Attorney General. 
Quorum met. 

MODIFICATION OF AGENDA 

There was no modification to the agenda. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Claire Roney moved to approve the minutes of the June 7, 2022 Board meeting. Joe Floyd seconded the 
motion. Minutes of the June 7, 2022 Board of Trustees meeting were approved by all Trustees. 

Mike Maxwell moved to approve the minutes of the Aug. 9, 2022 Board  Retreat. Mike Glenn seconded 
the motion. Minutes of the Aug. 9, 2022 Board of Trustees Retreat were approved by all Trustees. 

INTRODUCTIONS 

Soccer Coaches/Teams- Men’s and Women’s teams and coaches were introduced. 

Krista Francis introduced the new Student Services/HR employees: 
Marah Thronson- Customer Service Spec 1 
Bobbie Zajkowski- Student Success Navigator 
Acacia Bonura- International Program Specialist 2 
Holly Quinones – Director of Student Advising and Support Services 
Tara Judd- Executive Assistant to VPSS 
Cody Barker- HR Assistant 2 
Kanyon Anderson- Head Women’s Soccer Coach 
Jess Secrest- Interim Manger SSD 
Leah Vaara -Program Specialist 2 
Ruth Adams- Interim Associate Dean of Enrollment Services 

Steven Thomas introduced new Instruction employees: 
Michelle Brown- Early Childhood Spec 3 
Steve Belz is now FT Temp 
Rob Decou -now Tenure track faculty 
Lora Vess- Tenure track faculty 
Paula Watson- Dental Hygiene Director 
Barbara Blackie is now FT Temp 

COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT 1 
PENINSULA COLLEGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

REGULAR MEETING, Oct. 11, 2022 
Hybrid Meeting, Room A12 / Zoom 

5



Grace Tulsi Marshall – Math Center/Tutoring Coordinator 
Kate Reavey- Tenure track faculty 

Carie Edmiston introduced new Administration employee: 
JoNell Lock-Viacrcuis- Executive Assistant to VPFA 

June Claypool introduced new Strategy employees: 
Trish Tisdale- Graphic Designer 
Getta Workman- Interim Foundation Director 

PUBLIC FORUM/CORRESPONDENCE- none 

PRESENTATIONS 

-Sabbatical Report- Ritu Lauer- discussed the three papers she wrote during her sabbatical: 

When States Test Their Anti-Satellite Weapons 
Public-Private Linkages and the Case of Asteroid Mining 
Through Realism’s Lens: Trump’s Nationalist Rhetoric and the Space Force 

-Welding: Eoin Doherty, Welding faculty/Daniel Wright, Shipfitter and Sheetmetal Shops Hiring 
Manager, Puget Sound Naval Shipyard- discussed their partnership. They meet and can start the hiring 
process for students interested in working with the Naval Shipyard with graduating being a condition on 
employment. PC students that go through this process can start working as soon as they graduate.  

STANDING REPORTS: 

• ASC – Isaiah Penniston-John- They have a great diverse team of student leaders this year. 
Started the academic year off with a leadership forum. Welcome tent for first day of school, scavenger 
hunt, club fair, getting Pirate Pantry up and running, the ASC had a goal-setting planning session 
yesterday. Isaiah has a goal to merge the college and community. Comedian is coming this Thursday and 
a pumpkin carving contest and Halloween dance later this month. 

• Senate – Lara Starcevich- replacing Tanya Knight, they are discussing a posthumous degree for a 
student who recently passed away and getting started with fall quarter. 

• PCFA – Tim Williams- samples from the library’s history of PC display. New campus signage is in 
the works. We are well positioned to do the needed work at PC, clear purpose and strong hearts. The 
topic of Faculty counseling is back in bargaining, with a well represented bargaining team.  

• Institutional/Enrollment Report – Terye Senderhauf- operational plan noted in the Board 
packets, enrollment updates and highlights. 

 

PRESIDENT’S REPORT 

• Updates- 
o The Enrollment report is not where we want to be, we are diving into the enrollment 

report and trying to figure out the disconnect.  
o Great welcome back week.  

6



o Starting many new instructional programs, greater support structures for transitional 
studies students. 

o Relationship building within the college. 
o Fall Spectacular was a huge success with thousands of people attending and the 

majority of employees involved. 
o PC lifted the vaccine requirements for students. 
o Suzy has continued to be very active in the community and making connections. We will 

continue to increase the visibility of the college. 
o Suzy is now the vice chair of the WECTB Workforce Healthcare Council 
o WWU is looking into “Western on the Peninsula” there will be a gradual presence of 

WWU in Poulsbo. Suzy is working closely with State Board and the President of Olympic. 
Some PC leaders are going to Bellingham to partner with WWU on 2+2 degrees.  

o The NWCCU approved the final report, Mia Boster has been the ALO Dr. Steven Thomas 
will now be taking on that role. 

o Suzy Ames and Sophia Iliakis-Doherty will be doing an international trip for recruitment 
in November. 

o Trisha Haggerty will attend ACT with any board members that would like to attend the 
ACT conference in November 

o Significant repairs needed at the Forks site, dipping into reserves to get it completed. 
o Suzy will be in Forks meeting community leaders next week, Oct 20. 
o Carie Edmiston provided the preliminary Financial Report & 4th qtr. update- It has been 

difficult with managing budgets with the new ctcLink system, we will be rolling out 
training for budget managers. 

• Grants secured- in board packet, in future months there will be lists of competitive grants. 
• Legislative one-pagers- in board packet. 
• PC Facts- in board packet. 
• President self-evaluation template, for board review- in board packet. 
• Board Topic Calendar- we will update the board members on the “confirm attendees” sheet. 
• Strategic Plan check-in- It was created in 2019 before the pandemic. During welcome back week 

college community “voted” on their priorities. Board will review in November. 
• DEI plan- in board packet. 
• Community Meetings attended by Suzy Ames- in board packet. 

BOARD CHAIR UPDATE 

This is going to be the last zoom Board Meeting after this month, Board meetings will be in person only. 

Dwayne Johnson and Suzy Ames are going to the ACCT Conference in NY at the end of the month. He is 
looking forward to the men of color keynote.  

Mike Maxwell’s term on the board has been extended for two more years, he will be on the Board until 
9/30/24. 

TRUSTEE ACTIVITIES UPDATE ITEMS FOR BOARD STUDY 

-OPMA Training- Derek Leuzzi (ATG) 

-Board Self-Evaluation, draft in board packet. 

-Emeriti Awards: 

7



Name   DOH  Retirement Date Years of Service 

Deborah Scannell 8/10/2001 7/9/2021  19 Years, 10 Months 

Jan Isett  12/27/1999 12/31/2021  22 Years, 0 Months 

Nicole Casares  12/1/1986 6/30/2022  35 Years, 6 Months 

Luke Robins  4/5/2012 6/30/2022  10 Years, 2 Months 

Vicki Sievert  9/20/1999 6/30/2022  22 Years, 9 Months 

Larry White  6/22/2011 6/30/2022  11 Years, 0 Months 

 

ITEMS FOR BOARD ACTION 

Robins Green Resolution 2022-05- motion made by Mike Maxwell, 2nd by Claire Roney. All approved.  

Question about signage about labeling the Robins Green, it is in the works. It was suggested that we 
invite Dr. Robins to a future board meeting to be presented with the signed resolution. 

Academic Calendars- Dwayne Johnson made a motion to delegate the calendar approval to the 
president, seconded by Mike Glenn.  All approved. 

Regular meeting ended at 4:48. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Joe Floyd motioned to start Executive Session at 4:50pm, Mike Maxwell seconded. All approved. 

Evaluate performance of public employee – 20 minutes no action taken. 

Mike Maxwell motioned to end Executive Session at 5:16, Joe Floyd seconded, all approved. 

ADJOURNMENT  

Mike Maxwell motioned to end Executive Session at 5:18, Joe Floyd seconded, all approved. 

  
  

 

              

Dwayne Johnson, Board Chair       Date  
 

 

            

Suzy Ames, President           Date  
 

8



Institutional Effectiveness 
Board of Trustees Meeting

November 8, 2022

9



Core Theme: Advancing Student Success
Strategic Goal 2 – Institutionalize the Guided Pathways model 
at scale to improve student success.

10



First-Time Entering College (FTEC) 
Dashboard

 Award seeking students entering college for the first time in fall or summer

 Cohort reported excludes Running Start students

 Allows comparisons within the Washington Community and Technical College 
System (34 colleges) as a whole or by selecting specific colleges

 Peer colleges are Big Bend, Centralia, Clark, Grays Harbor, and Walla Walla

 Dashboards available to college employees at SBCTC.edu

 Replicated dashboards with further detail available to college employees on 
Data Mart

11

https://www.sbctc.edu/
https://pencol.sharepoint.com/sites/DataMart/SitePages/Institutional-Research-Dashboards-and-Reports.aspx


Measurable Skills Gains

Measurable Skills Gains is an indicator of effectiveness of the Transitional 
Studies programs. Students are counted as making a measurable skill gain 
if move up educational functional levels, take college credits, earn high 
school equivalency or earn a high school diploma. PC has been 
consistently higher than the system average and in 2021-22 was number 
three in the system.

28% 67% 47% 45% 41% 66%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

PC System

12



College-level Math in the 1st year

Taking college-level Math in the first year is one indicator of continued student 
success. College-level Math in the first year rates have been consistently 
improving over the past six years, reaching 42.1% in the past year, while peer 
college averages have remained around 30%.

22.9% 27.3% 29.3% 31.1% 39.6% 42.1%
0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

PC Goal (50%) Peer Colleges (~ 30%)

13



College-level English in the 1st year

Taking college-level English in the first year is another indicator of continued 
student success. College-level English in the first year rates declined from a high 
of 64.2% 2020-21 to 56.2% in 2021-22, but remain consistently at or above peer 
college rates of approximately 55%.

49.3% 58.6% 55.0% 61.5% 64.2% 56.2%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

PC Peer Colleges (~ 55%)

14



Completions within 3 years

41.4% 44.1% 32.6% 44.8% 36.2% 39.4%
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

PC Goal (42%) Peer Colleges (~34%)

Award completion is a federally defined and widely accepted metric for assessing 
student achievement. Completions include any degree or certificate awarded 
within three years of first enrollment. 

15



Voluntary Framework of Accountability 
(VFA) data and dashboards

 Voluntary data collection with similar metrics – not all colleges participate

 Allows comparison with community colleges throughout the nation.

 Peer colleges selected represent colleges with similar enrollment size, type of 
campus, and geographic location

 Cohort reported is First Time in College, which excludes Running Start 
students

 Dashboards and reports available to college employees by setting up an 
account at http://vfa.aac.nche.edu

 PDFs of past reports as well as instructions for accessing VFA reports online 
are available to college employees on Data Mart.

16

http://vfa.aac.nche.edu/
https://pencol.sharepoint.com/sites/DataMart/SitePages/Institutional-Research-Dashboards-and-Reports.aspx


College-level Math in the 2nd year

The VFA metric tracks students that started in developmental math and 
continued on to complete a college-level Math course by the end of the second 
year. PC results have improved by almost 20 percentage points since the 2017 
cohort and are consistently higher than peer colleges.

34% 39% 44% 53%
0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

2017 2018 2019 2020

PC Peer Colleges (~32%)

17



College-level English in the 2nd year

The VFA metric tracks students that were required to take a developmental 
English course and continued on to complete a college-level English course by the 
end of the second year. PC results are consistently higher than peer colleges 63% 
in the 2020 cohort compared to 50% average for the peer colleges.

56% 50% 65% 63%
0%

10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%

2017 2018 2019 2020

PC Peer Colleges (~50%)

18



Award and/or Transfer within Six Years

VFA collects data on students six years after starting at PC, including whether 
they were awarded any degree or certificate, and whether they transferred to a 
4-year college regardless of award status. This graph shows the combination 
results of those categories. This does not include students who left without any 
awards and those who are still enrolled at PC.

58% 59% 67% 82%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2012 2013 2014 2015

PC Peer Colleges (~54%)

19



as of October 31, 2022

Fall 2022 Enrollment Highlights
State FTEs at 990.3 are  down -80.4 FTES or -7.65% from Fall 2021. 
   - Not all IBest FTEs have been generated.
   - Certified Medical Assistant Apprenticeship (CMAA) did not run CMAA 102 this fall.
Contract FTEs at 274.5 are  down -101.2 FTES or -26.94% from Fall 2021. 
  - Corrections enrollments have not yet been entered.

Annualized FTE Enrollment Highlights
Fall and Summer 2022 compared to Fall and Summer 2021
 - State FTES are 2% less than last year
 - Contract FTES are down 34%
 - Self Support FTES have more than doubled

Transfer FTEs -  731.9 FTES - increased 11%.
Prof/Tech - 639.9 FTEs - down 1%.
Transitional Studies - 277.8 FTEs increased 18%.

Enrollment Highlights
FALL 2022 

Updated October 3, 202220



as of October 31, 2022
FTES State Contract Self Total
Fall 2021 to date 1051
Fall 2022 to date 990 274 26 1291
Difference -61

-5.8%
Fall 2021 Total 1070.7 376 10 1456
Difference -80 -101 16 -166

-7.6% -26.9% 159.8% -11.4%

State Contract Other Total

1376.3 316.5 35.0 1727.7

Transfer Prof/Tech TS Other Total

731.9 656.7 277.8 61.4 1727.8

BAS BFET I-Best Int'l RS Wrk Retr.

43.0 105.6 39.2 56.7 260.8 169.7
(enrollments are not 
mutually exclusive)

FALL 2022 
Enrollment Highlights

2022-23 Annual FTEs to 
date

2022-23 Annual FTEs to 
date

2022-23 Annual FTEs to 
date

3%

-7%
-18%

0%

-31% -33%

-11% -8% -6%

11%

-1%

18%

-40%

-20%

0%

20%

40%
Transfer Prof/Tech Transitional

Annual Change in FTE by Student Intent

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 to date

12%

-5% -1% -10% -5%
-18%

-32%
-49%

-31% -31%

6%

-31%

-3%
-15%

30%

-24% -20%

13%8%

41%

-67%

11% 1%
15%

-100%

-50%

0%

50%
BAS BFET I-Best Int'l RS Wrk. Retr.

Annual Change in FTE by Selected Program

2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 to date

-5% -1% -4%-7% -5% -7%
-14% -15% -14%

4%

-30%

-6%-2%

-34%

-8%

-40%

-20%

0%

20%
State Contract Total

Annual Change in FTE by Fund Source

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 to date

0

500

1000

1500

-8
0

-7
3

-6
6

-5
9

-5
2

-4
5

-3
8

-3
1

-2
4

-1
7

-1
0 -3 4 11 18 26

STATE FTE COMPARISON
Fall 2021

Fall 2022

Updated October 3, 202221



Statement of Financial Position
For Quarter Ending September 30, 2022

1st Qtr 2023 1st Qtr 2022
ASSETS

Cash 3,997,539 4,806,230
Investments 6,902,660 4,861,696
Current Accounts Receivable 7,749,638 4,230,517
Long Term Accounts Receivable 0 5,193,077
Inventories 183,922 213,527
General Long-Term Obligations 2,501,800 3,165,712
Land 371,368 371,368
Buildings 78,690,826 80,776,515
Improvements other than Buildings 53,597 56,431
Furnishings, Equipment & Libraries 592,272 756,726

Total Assets 101,043,622 104,431,799

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities 7,139,819 6,842,243
Long-Term Liabilities 2,428,662 2,986,638

FUND BALANCES
Equity Account Activity 91,475,141 94,602,917

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances 101,043,622 104,431,799

22



Actual Revenue Actual Exp Rev minus Exp % of Exp vs Rev

through Sept, 2022 through Sept, 2022 through Sept, 2022 2022-23

OPERATING FUNDS
General Fund:
State Operating Allocation 3,096,954 3,096,954 0 100.0%

Local Operating Fund 1,707,735 924,397 783,338 54.1%

Sub-total General Fund: 4,804,689 4,021,351 783,338 83.7%

Local Dedicated Fund 309,488 122,951 186,537 39.7%

Grants and Contracts Fund 641,039 804,239 (163,199) 125.5%

Sub-total Operating Funds 5,755,216 4,948,541 806,675 86.0%

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
Associated Students 219,873 118,754 101,119 54.0%

Bookstore 136,764 71,910 64,854 52.6%

Parking 6,796 0 6,796 0.0%

Ancilliary Services 101,911 56,701 45,210 55.6%

Food Service 17,349 28,304 (10,955) 163.1%

Sub-total Proprietary Funds 482,693 275,669 207,024 57.1%

Total Annual College Funds 6,237,909 5,224,211 1,013,699 83.7%

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
Grants In Aid 1,240,728 2,304,035 (1,063,306) 185.7%

Student Loans 203,694 263,698 (60,004) 129.5%

Workstudy 5,249 5,965 (716) 113.6%

Institutional Financial Aid 66,774 40,052 26,722 60.0%

Fiduciary Funds Total 1,516,446 2,613,750 (1,097,304) 172.4%

CAPITAL PROJECTS
21-23 State Appropriations 700,788 700,788 0 100.0%

Local Capital Fund 0 16,278 (16,278)  

Total Biennial Capital Project 700,788 717,066 (16,278) 102.3%

GRAND TOTAL ALL FUNDS 8,455,143 8,555,027 (99,883) 101.2%

COMPARISON OF ACTUAL REVENUE AND ACTUAL EXPENDITURES BY FUND
As of September 30, 2022

REVENUE / EXPENDITURE 
CATEGORY

23



 
  

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

100.0%

2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021 2021-2022 2002-2023

General Fund
Actual Expense % of Budget

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

24



0.0%

0.5%

1.0%

1.5%

2.0%

2.5%

3.0%

6/18/2020 9/26/2020 1/4/2021 4/14/2021 7/23/2021 10/31/2021 2/8/2022 5/19/2022 8/27/2022 12/5/2022

Local Government Investment Pool
Net Earnings Rate

25



Transforming Lives Nomination 22-23- Peninsula College 
Tim Atkisson 

Attending college seemed like an unrealistic pursuit years ago. The state of mind that I was in 
certainly was not that of a person with dreams and aspirations. I was lost, angry, and alone. 
Even worse, I was hopelessly addicted to drugs. I needed help but I was terrified to ask for it. 
This way of life was all that I knew. It became the only thing that was familiar to me.  

After years of constant turmoil, misery, and inevitable homelessness, I hit what is commonly 
referred to as “rock bottom.” Legal intervention and threats of prison opened my eyes to the 
harsh reality of my situation. I was nearly 30 years old with no family, no friends, and no hope. 
When I finally was able to gain the strength to ask for help, not only did I receive it, but my life 
was never the same. I was awarded the opportunity to make substantial changes and I chose to 
make the most of it. 

 Helping people who are still in the seemingly unbreakable grasp of addiction has become a 
passion of mine. Six years ago I began working for a local inpatient rehabilitation facility. I didn’t 
know where this journey would take me, but my motivation was clear - I just wanted to help. 
Over the next several years, I began advancing within the company and realized that my vision 
of success would require me to enroll in college. My goal was to get my Substance Use Disorder 
Professional (SUDP) credentials through the Department of Health. As soon as I enrolled I knew 
that I had made the right decision. I met a woman named Stacie Bell who was responsible for 
the addiction studies program at Peninsula College. Her kindness and willingness to share the 
knowledge she has with her students is something that I will never forget. Dr. Alan Lapin and 
Stephanie Diltz were both major influences in helping me find the desire to continue learning.  

Fast forward to 2020 and I graduated from PC with a degree in addiction studies. I was able to 
get my SUDP through the department of health and began running inpatient and eventually 
outpatient caseloads. Through all of the progress with school and discovering my career path, I 
started a family and am now the proud father of three amazing children, a 5-year-old girl, and 
almost 2-year-old twin boys. My life is unrecognizable compared to where I was before I found 
a purpose. Peninsula College was and continues to be instrumental in helping me achieve my 
goals and live a life I never thought imaginable. I am currently in the second year of my BAS 
degree and intend to continue pursuing higher education to make myself indispensable within 
my field. College may not be for everyone, but it certainly transformed my life and for that, I 
will be forever grateful.  

26



 

 
October 26, 2022 

 
 

Transforming Lives Award Committee Members: 
 
 
I am writing to express the Peninsula College Board of Trustees’ support for the 
nomination of Tim Atkisson for the ACT Transforming Lives Award. Tim has a truly 
inspirational story and Peninsula College is privileged to have played a role in helping 
him become the person he is today. 

Tim enrolled in the Peninsula College Addiction Studies Program to continue his 
newfound desire to help others and gain the skills needed to provide a better life for his 
family. He not only changed the direction of his own life, but now has dedicated his 
career to helping others who have faced hardships and seek a new direction. He is 
continuing his education and is a currently in our Bachelor of Applied Management 
program and we are excited to see what he accomplishes next! 

 
Tim’s strength and determination despite difficult circumstances, his commitment to his 
education and his future, and his power as a role model for students, faculty, and staff 
are why the Board of Trustees for Peninsula College has chosen Tim Atkisson as our 
nominee for the ACT Transforming Lives Award. 

Thank you for your consideration. 
  

Sincerely, 

 
 
Michael S. Maxwell, MD 
Vice Chair, Peninsula College Board of Trustees 

 
 

27



INCREASING THE  
ENROLLMENT, RETENTION,  
AND SUCCESS OF MEN OF COLOR  
IN COMMUNITY COLLEGES: 
A FRAMEWORK FOR POLICY AND  
INSTITUTIONAL RESPONSIBILITY

Frank Harris III & J. Luke Wood
San Diego State University 

Community College Equity Assessment Lab

October 2022
28



TABLE OF CONTENTS
About  ...................................................................................... 1

Executive Summary ....................................................... 2

Introduction ....................................................................... 3

A Need to Focus on Men of Color ............................ 4

Factors Influencing Student .......................................................7 
Enrollment, Retention and Success

The Socio-Ecological Outcomes (SEO) Model: ...................8 
A Framework for Understanding the  
Experiences of Men of Color in Communities

Institutional Spotlights .............................................. 10

Recommendations and Implications ................. 11 
for Increasing the Enrollment and  
Retention of Men of Color in  
Community Colleges

References ......................................................................... 15

29



Increasing the Enrollment, Retention, and Success of Men of Color in Community Colleges    1

ABOUT
Association of Community College Trustees (ACCT):  
ACCT is a non-profit educational organization of governing 
boards, representing more than 6,500 elected and appointed 
trustees who govern over 1,200 community, technical, 
and junior colleges in the United States and beyond. 
ACCT’s mission is to foster the principles and practices of 
exemplary governance while promoting high-quality and 
affordable higher education, cutting-edge workforce and 
development training, student success, and the opportunity 
for all individuals to achieve economic self-sufficiency and 
security. www.acct.org

Community College Equity Assessment Lab (CCEAL):  
CCEAL is a research and practice laboratory in the College of 
Education at San Diego State University. CCEAL’s mission 
is to partner with community colleges across the U.S. to 
institutionalize equity efforts and to build the capacities of 
all educators to serve students who have been historically 
underrepresented and underserved in education equitably and 
responsibly. Advancing student success for men of color has 
been a core component of CCEAL’s mission since its founding 
in 2011. www.cceal.org

Improving Educational Outcomes for Men of Color 

Symposium: The Improving Educational Outcomes for Men 
of Color Symposium, which included the release of this brief, 
was envisioned in response to the alarming trend of drops in 
enrollment and persistence among men of color in community 
colleges. The goal is to explore underlying causes and the strategies 
being used on campuses to address these causes and reverse these 
trends through this brief, campus dialogue, and student feedback. 
https://www.acct.org/page/improving-educational-

outcomes-men-color-symposium

This brief and the Men of Color Symposium are made possible 
by generous support from:

The Kresge Foundation: The Kresge Foundation was founded 
in 1924 to promote human progress. Today, Kresge fulfills that 
mission by building and strengthening pathways to opportunity 
for low-income people in America’s cities, seeking to dismantle 
structural and systemic barriers to equality and justice. Using a full 
array of grant, loan, and other investment tools, Kresge invests 
more than $160 million annually to foster economic and social 
change. For more information visit kresge.org  

The opinions and recommendations in this report are that of the authors.

30



2    Increasing the Enrollment, Retention, and Success of Men of Color in Community Colleges

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
Longstanding concerns about the enrollment, retention, and 
success of men of color (e.g., Black, Latino/Hispanic, Native 
American, Pacific Islander, and Southeast Asian) in community 
colleges have been exacerbated by the effects of the COVID-19 
pandemic. While community college student enrollments 
overall declined 13% during the pandemic, declines for Black 
and Native American men were notably higher at 26% and 24%, 
respectively. High rates of attrition and low rates of completion 
for men of color have also garnered the attention and concern of 
community college leaders and policymakers. Between 2017 and 
2021, rates of attrition exceeded 50% for Black, Native American, 
and Pacific Islander men. During the same time frame, more than 
one-third of White and Asian American (not disaggregated) men 
completed community college. In comparison, less than 30% of 
Black, Latino/Hispanic, Pacific Islander, and Native American 
men completed. Men of color in community colleges also have 
grade point averages that are consistently lower than their peers.  

Among the factors that have been identified by researchers and 
practitioners as negatively impacting the enrollment, retention, 
and success of men of color in community colleges are racially 
hostile campus climates, employment challenges and concerns, 
basic needs insecurities, and identity conflicts relating to gender 
and masculinity (to name some).    

In response to the issues that complicate the enrollment, 
retention, and success of men of color, a set of policy and 
institutional recommendations are offered in this brief. The 
policy recommendations proposed herein center on increasing 
the number of high school students who apply to public 
postsecondary institutions, investing in dual enrollment programs 
that target boys of color, increasing access to disaggregated student 
enrollment and success data, and supporting statewide efforts to 
eliminate cost as a barrier to access. Institutional leaders include 
incorporating enrollment, retention, and completion goals into 
institutional strategic plans; building the capacity of all educators 
to serve men of color equitably; and establishing industry 
partnerships within career and technical education programs.   

 
 
 

31



Increasing the Enrollment, Retention, and Success of Men of Color in Community Colleges    3

Community colleges have long served as the primary pathway 
into postsecondary education for historically underserved men 
of color (e.g., Black, Indigenous/Native American, Latino, Pacific 

Islander, and Southeast Asian). 

INTRODUCTION
Community colleges have long served as the primary pathway 
into postsecondary education for historically underserved men 
of color (e.g., Black, Indigenous/Native American, Latino, 
Pacific Islander, and Southeast Asian). These institutions 
have provided upward socio-economic mobility through 
career preparation and transfer opportunities (Wood, Palmer, 
& Harris III, 2015). Notwithstanding, many colleges and 
universities have struggled to facilitate positive outcomes for 
men of color, - a challenge that was heightened during the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Community college trustees are critical 
to addressing both historical and contemporary challenges to 
the success of men of color–largely because issues facing men of 
color are indicative of systemic challenges fostered by historical 
policies, laws, codes, and practices that result in outcome 
disparities for men of color. 

As stated by W. Edwards Deming (n.d.) “every system is perfectly 
designed to achieve the results that it gets.” As such, outcome 
disparities faced by men of color are a function of systems that 
can be reformed to ensure positive outcomes for college men 
of color. Trustees are charged with the responsible stewardship 
of community colleges through establishing policy, hiring 
CEOs who share their vision for student success, and setting 
expectations and standards for performance (Smith, 2018). Thus, 
trustees have significant influence in building and sustaining 
college cultures that ensure success for men of color and other 
disproportionately impacted students. 

In this brief, we offer recommendations that can be advanced by 
trustees to improve outcomes for men of color. Herein we offer 

two sections of recommendations: first, are recommendations for 
policymakers at the state, regional, and local levels. Second, our 
recommendations for institutional leaders, particularly trustees 
and chief executive officers. In tandem, these recommendations 
serve as a guide to create systems that can improve enrollment, 
retention, and success for men of color. Before presenting these 
recommendations, we examine enrollment and persistence 
patterns among men of color and provide context to the 
backgrounds and experiences of these men as documented in the 
published literature. It should be noted that access to national data 
has been impacted by COVID-19 with the government halting 
key data collection efforts. As such, in some cases, we were reliant 
upon pre-pandemic data as newer data are not readily available. 
After discussing patterns of enrollment and persistence for men of 
color, we provide an overview of the Socio-Ecological Outcomes 
(SEO) model, a conceptual framework we developed based on an 
extensive review of literature focused on community college men 
of color. This framework has been widely used among scholars 
and practitioners to understand the complexity of issues (e.g., 
masculine identity, campus climate, non-cognitive factors) that 
influence success (broadly defined) for men of color in community 
colleges. In this brief, our focus is primarily on men of color 
who have been historically underrepresented and underserved in 
education, notably, Black/African American, Native American, 
and Latino. However, men of color are also inclusive of Southeast 
Asian (e.g., Hmong, Cambodian, Laotian, Vietnamese) and Pacific 
Islander men as they often have experiences and outcomes that 
mirror their Black, Latino, and Native American male peers 
(Harris III et al., 2017).

 

32



50

40

30

20

10

0

50

40

30

20

10

0

Students of Color in Community Colleges Male Students of Color in 
Community Colleges

 Black/African American     Hispanic/Latino     Native American/Alaskan Native     Hawaiian/Pacific Islander
Source: U.S. Department of Education, 2016a

FIGURE 1: ENROLLMENT FOR STUDENTS OF OF COLOR IN COMMUNITY COLLEGES

4    Increasing the Enrollment, Retention, and Success of Men of Color in Community Colleges

A NEED TO FOCUS ON MEN OF COLOR
As noted previously in this brief, community colleges serve as the 
primary pathway to postsecondary education for men of color. 
Across all postsecondary sectors (e.g., public four-year, private for-
profit four-year), community colleges have the highest enrollment 
of students of color. For example, enrollment for students of color 
in community colleges (i.e., public two-year institutions) is as 
follows: 37.5% Black/African American, 45.6% Hispanic/Latinx, 
48.9% Native American/Alaskan Native, and 46.6% Hawaiian/
Pacific Islander. When disaggregated by gender, representation 
for men of color is often slightly higher including 40.5% Black/
African American, 46.6% Hispanic/Latinx, 48.4% Native 
American/Alaskan Native, and 40.4%, Hawaiian/Pacific Islander 

(U.S. Department of Education, 2016a), see Figure 1. These data 
are based on the pre-pandemic era. Unfortunately, during the 
COVID-19 pandemic, community college enrollment dropped 
by more than 13%. This enrollment decline was the largest of 
all postsecondary sectors, including public four-year (-2.8%), 
private not-for-profit 4 year (-1.7%), and private for-profit (4.5%), 
see Figure 2. In community colleges, enrollment declines were not 
consistent across all racial groups. The highest enrollment declines 
were among men, particularly men of color. For domestic men, 
the most startling enrollment declines were for Native American 
and Black men, who experienced 26% and 24% enrollment declines 
between 2019 and 2021 (Geary, 2022). 

37.5%
40.5% 

46.6% 48.4% 

40.4%
45.6% 

48.9% 46.6% 

33



 Public four-year     Private not-for-profit 4 year     Private for-profit     Community Colleges 

FIGURE 2: ENROLLMENT DECLINE IN COMMUNITY COLLEGES

FIGURE 3: TWO-YEAR COHORT (2017-2020)

Non-completion Rates Completion Rates

 Black/African American     Hispanic/Latino     Native American/Alaskan Native     Hawaiian/Pacific Islander     Multiracial  

Source: U.S. Department of Education, 2021

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

53.4% 51.554.7%

6

3

0

-3

-6

-9

-12

-15

4.5%

-13%

-1.7%-2.8%

Increasing the Enrollment, Retention, and Success of Men of Color in Community Colleges    5

22.8%

28.6% 27.5% 27%
29.1%

In addition to enrollment declines, there are also persistent gaps 
in student outcomes. For instance, for the 2017 cohort of two-
year college students, the highest attrition rates were for Black, 
Native American, and Pacific Islander men. In fact, between 
2017 and 2021, 54.7% of Black men left college without earning 
a certificate or degree. This attrition rate is closely followed by 
Native American/Alaskan Native men at 53.4% and Pacific Islander 
men at 51.5%, respectively. Moreover, within this time frame, 
fewer men of color completed their degree programs. Completion 
rates for Black, Latino/Hispanic, Native American, Pacific Islander, 
and Multiracial men were 22.8%, 28.6%, 29.1%, 27.5%, and 27%, 
respectively. (U.S. Department of Education, 2021), see Figure 3. 

“Stopping out” offers a partial explanation for these disparities in 
completion rates. Stopping out refers to students who take a break 
in enrollment for a period of time before returning to their studies. 
High stop-out rates are evident for students of color, a pattern which 
is also reflected among men of color. For instance, for men of color 
enrolled in the 6-year cohort ending in 2017, more than half stopped 
out of college during this timeframe. Specifically, stop-out rates were 
54.6% for Black/African American men and 45.0% for Hispanic/
Latino men. These rates were significantly higher than the stop-out 
rate for White men, which was 38.1%. That said, it should be noted 
that stop-out rates for women of color are slightly higher than those 
of men of color (U.S. Department of Education, 2017), see Figure 4. 

34



 Black/African American     Hispanic/Latino     
 Native American/Alaskan Native     White

Source: U.S. Department of Education, 2016b

 Black/African American     Hispanic/Latino     
 Native American/Alaskan Native

Source: U.S. Department of Education, 2016b

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

50

40

30

20

10

0

17.6% 18.7% 19.9%

29.3%

 Black/African American     Hispanic/Latino     White   

Source: U.S. Department of Education, 2017

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

54.6% 45% 38.1%

FIGURE 4: SIX-YEAR COHORT STOP-OUT RATES

6    Increasing the Enrollment, Retention, and Success of Men of Color in Community Colleges

FIGURE 5: GPA OF 3.5 OR HIGHER FIGURE 6: GPA OF 2.5 OR LOWER

42.9% 39.8% 39.8%

be examined by identifying those lower than desired GPAs. 
Unfortunately, men of color are overrepresented among 
community college students with GPAs of 2.5 or lower. For 
instance, 30.2% of community college students have a GPA 
of 2.5 or lower.  However, the rates for 39.8% of Native 
American/Alaskan Native, 42.9% of Black/African American, 
and 39.8% of Hispanic/Latino men have 2.5 or lower GPAs. 
The rate for Black men (42.9%) is the highest in this category 
for any racial and gender group (U.S. Department of Education, 
2016b), see Figure 6.

In addition to completion, another marker of a college’s 
effectiveness in supporting student success is achievement. In 
comparison to their counterparts, men of color often have grade 
point averages (GPAs) that lag behind their peers. For example, 
26.2% of students in community colleges have a GPA of 3.5 or 
higher. In comparison, this rate is lower for Native American/
Alaskan Native, Black/African American, and Hispanic/Latino 
men at 19.9%, 17.6%, and 18.7%, respectively. In contrast, 29.3% 
of White men have a GPA of 3.5 or higher (U.S. Department 
of Education, 2016b), see Figure 5. Conversely, success can also 

35



Finally, with regard to factors impacting the enrollment, 
retention, and success of men of color in community colleges, 

overexposure to basic needs concerns, such as food and 
housing insecurity, also have a salient impact. 

Increasing the Enrollment, Retention, and Success of Men of Color in Community Colleges    7

Factors Influencing Student Enrollment, Retention and Success
Researchers (e.g., Harper, 2009; Smith, Allen & Danley, 2007; 
Smith, Hung & Franklin, 2011) have shown that men of color 
often enter classrooms and college environments where they 
are exposed to racism and racial microaggressions. In particular, 
Wood and Harris III (2015) have noted that men of color 
routinely experience interactions with educators where they are 
assumed to be academically inferior in comparison to their peers, 
to be troublemakers who are prone to criminalized behavior, 
and to come from families and communities that do not value 
education. These messages are communicated to them during the 
matriculation process, in class, out of class, and in other contexts 
that require them to interact directly with faculty, academic 
advisors, counselors, and student services professionals (Wood & 
Harris III, 2017). These experiences are compounded by hostile 
campus climates for men of color. Too often, these environments 
do not effectively support men of color in feeling a sense of 
belonging in college, believing that their presence matters, or 
that their engagement is either invited or desired by educators 
(Wood & Harris III, 2020). While many institutions have 
undergone studies focused on racial climates, few institutions 
have succeeded in changing climates and experiences for the 
majority of their men of color.

Some men of color persist in spite of hostile campus climates 
due to motivational desires to create a better life for themselves 
and their families. In doing so, they recognize that they will 
need to prove wrong those who do not believe in their abilities 
to be successful (Wood, Hilton & Hicks, 2014). The last decade 
of research on men of color has been more attentive to the role 
that masculine identity has on student success. Three patterns of 
masculinity that are salient within community college contexts are 
1) men of color’s perceptions of school or academia as a feminine 
domain that is not conducive to men’s thriving and belonging, 

2) breadwinner orientation, which is men’s tendencies to make 
academic and career decisions based on the expectation that they 
must fulfill the role of breadwinner in their families, and 3) an 
apprehension to help-seeking, which is an unwillingness to seek 
or accept help to avoid being viewed as weak or dependent.  
Harris III and Wood (2016) demonstrated that because men are 
often socialized to see being a provider as an expectation in their 
homes and families, they must see some alignment between this 
expectation and the pursuit of a college degree. In addition, men 
are often socialized to see help-seeking behaviors as a sign of 
weakness, hence some men will avoid asking for support and 
using campus support services despite needing to do so. Thus, 
it is important for community colleges to proactively provide 
services to students, particularly those who are less likely to 
initially seek out help.

Men of color are also adversely impacted by unemployment and 
underemployment. While in college, their work experiences and 
opportunities are complicated by the types of job opportunities 
that are available to them. Men of color in community college tend 
to be concentrated in jobs that share these three characteristics: 
1) physically demanding and exhausting; 2) occur in the evening, 
late night, or overnight hours; and 3) temporary, seasonal, or 
transitional (Wood, Harrison, & Jones, 2016).

Finally, with regard to factors impacting the enrollment, retention, 
and success of men of color in community colleges, overexposure to 
basic needs concerns, such as food and housing insecurity, also have 
a salient impact. It is also common for these students to experience 
insecurities relating to access to transportation to and from campus 
and access to the technology that is required to complete courses.  
In tandem, basic needs and climate concerns can further intensify 
feelings of alienation and isolation for men of color. 

 

36



8    Increasing the Enrollment, Retention, and Success of Men of Color in Community Colleges

The Socio-Ecological Outcomes (SEO) Model: A Framework for Understanding 
the Experiences of Men of Color in Communities 

Background/ 
Defining Factors

Non-cognitive Domain

Academic Domain

Campus Ethos Domain

Environmental Domain Student Success

Structural Domain

Societal Factors

SOCIO-ECOLOGICAL DOMAINSINPUTS OUTCOMES

The Socio-Ecological Outcomes (SEO) model was developed 
by Harris III and Wood (2016) to account for the myriad of 
factors that influence men of color’s experiences and success in 
community colleges. The model has been proven effective in 
guiding community college leaders in transforming institutions 
to be more conducive to the success of men of color, and 
community college faculty in designing curricula and courses 
that account for men of color’s learning needs and strengths. The 
SEO model was developed based on the published literature and 

research on the intersection of race/ethnicity and masculinities 
in education, adult learning, and student success in community 
colleges. Bensimon’s (2007) concept of equity-mindedness, 
which foregrounds institutions’ and educators’ responsibilities 
in the student success paradigm, also informed the development 
of the SEO model. The model was also field-tested with data 
that were collected from men of color in community colleges 
using the Community College Survey of Men.

37



Increasing the Enrollment, Retention, and Success of Men of Color in Community Colleges    9

According to the SEO Model, educators who are concerned about 
the representation and success of men of color in community 
colleges should be aware of the factors below and their impact on 
men of color’s educational trajectories:

   Background defining factors (e.g., age, primary language, 
citizenship status, ability) and societal factors (e.g., racist 
stereotypes, economic conditions, systemic inequities) that shape 
students’ identities as learners.

   Non-cognitive factors that account for the intersection of 
students’ identities as learners and their confidence in their 
ability to be successful, intrinsic academic interests, and 
perceptions of the worthiness of postsecondary education.  
The intersection of race/ethnicity and gender is situated in the 
non-cognitive domain.  

   Academic factors account for students’ direct interactions with 
instructional faculty, their commitment to a course of study, and 
their use of academic services.

   Environmental factors, which are situated outside of the physical 
boundaries of the institution but impact the time and resources 
men of color are able to invest in their pursuit of postsecondary 
goals at any given time, for example, employment, family 
commitments, transportation, access to broadband, and access to 
food and housing to name some.  

   Campus ethos factors, which are typically under the complete 
control of educators at the institution and include men of color’s 
sense of belonging; perceptions of the campus racial and gender 
climate as safe, welcoming and inclusive; receiving validation 
and support from campus educators on a regular basis; and 
having relationships with educators that are grounded in trust, 
mutual respect, and authentic care. 

According to the model, it is the dynamic interactions that take 
place between and within these factors that ultimately shape 
student success (broadly defined) for men of color in community 
college. Thus, efforts (e.g., programs, policies, and practices) to 
improve their representation and success in community college 
must account for these factors. 

The Socio-Ecological Outcomes (SEO) model was developed by Harris 
III and Wood (2016) to account for the myriad of factors that influence 

men of color’s experiences and success in community colleges.

38



10    Increasing the Enrollment, Retention, and Success of Men of Color in Community Colleges

INSTITUTIONAL SPOTLIGHTS 
In this section of the brief we share four community colleges and one postsecondary system that have enacted promising 
interventions to increase enrollment, retention, and success of men of color.  In doing so, we highlight the mission, core 
services, and student success data (when available) that speaks to the program’s impact.  

Bunker Hill College: The HOPE initiative at Bunker Hill 
College is an asset-based initiative that aims to leverage 
men of color’s cultural wealth and other assets they bring 
with them to educational contexts. A core assumption of 
the initiative is that transforming inequitable systems and 
structures will enable men of color to thrive. Among the 
services and supports that are afforded to HOPE students 
are: learning resources, dialogue sessions, study groups, 
and dedicated staff. The initiative also has intentionally 
designed professional learning experiences for faculty, 
staff, and administrators who are responsible for ensuring 
the success of men of color at the college.  

Miami Dade College: The Miami Dade College Rising 
Black Scholars program was launched in 2021 to address 
significant gaps in the retention and graduation of 
Black students. To date, more than 300 scholars have 
participated in the program. Scholars are afforded 
resources and supports that are critical to student success 
including technology, book stipends, access to a holistic 
support team that provides academic and financial 
advising, mental health counseling, and transportation 
support (to name some). Scholars were retained at a rate of 
98% from the Fall 2021 to the Spring 2022 term, and 84% 
from the Spring 2022 to the Summer 2022 term. These 
retention rates were significantly higher than the 57% rate 
for non-participants. 

Community College of Baltimore County: The 
Male Student Success Initiative (MSSI) serves men of 
color at the Community College of Baltimore County 
(CCBC) through a range of programs and services that 
are intentionally designed to improve academic success 
outcomes. Over the last year, the program has grown 
from 120 to 255 student participants. MSSI’s core 
programming includes: offering sections of gateway 
English and Math courses that are designed to meet the 
learning needs of men of color, a mentoring program 
that pairs men of color students with professional 
MSSI Success Mentors who share their identities, tours 

to four-year institutions, and activities that facilitate 
career development for men of color (e.g., internships, 
job shadowing, readiness workshops). During summer 
2022, MSSI students interned at BGE, Whiting-Turner 
Construction, Stanley Black & Decker, Ports America 
Chesapeake, CareFirst BlueCross BlueShield and MedStar. 
More work-ready training and corporate partnerships are 
being developed as the program grows.     

The City University of New York: The CUNY Black 
Male Initiative (BMI) is a system-wide initiative that 
targets African, Black, Caribbean, and Hispanic/Latino 
men at 25 campuses across the city’s five boroughs. The 
BMI emerged from a task force that was convened by 
former CUNY Chancellor Matthew Goldstein in 2004 to 
develop a set of recommendations to improve academic 
success for Black males. Ten of the system’s institutions 
serve students who are pursuing 2-year degrees and 
continuing education. The BMI programming model is 
guided by six pillars that align with the initiative’s goals 
of increasing the enrollment, matriculation, retention, 
grade point averages, and graduation rates of men of 
color: 1) Diversity recruitment, 2) culturally competent 
peer-to-peer mentoring, 3) academic enhancements, 
4) institutional commitment, 5) advisory committees, and 
6) socioemotional programming.  

Community College of Philadelphia: The Center 
for Male Engagement (CME) was established at the 
Community College of Philadelphia to address disparities in 
achievement and retention that disproportionately impacted 
Black male students. CME employs a cohort model that 
serves Black men by way of one-on-one coaching, academic 
tutoring, career development, and cultural enrichment 
programs. A core value of CME is to utilize strength-
based approaches to serve students that counter deficit 
narratives about Black men. CME has served more than 
1,500 students. Retention and graduation rates for CME 
participants are consistently higher than those for Black 
male peers who do not participate in the program.  

39



Increasing the Enrollment, Retention, and Success of Men of Color in Community Colleges    11

RECOMMENDATIONS AND IMPLICATIONS FOR 
INCREASING THE ENROLLMENT AND RETENTION 
OF MEN OF COLOR IN COMMUNITY COLLEGES
Leaders and policymakers who are concerned about the status 
of boys and men of color in their states, regions, and areas 
should consider enacting policies that are aligned with these 
six recommendations:   

1.  Require All High School Seniors to Complete and Submit an 

Application to a Public Postsecondary Institution in the State – 
The process for applying to postsecondary education can be 
confusing and cumbersome for students, especially those who 
may be the first in their families to pursue a college education.  
This challenge, combined with the recognition that men of 
color are among the students who struggle most with asking for 
help, suggests a need for targeted support for applying to college 
during students’ senior year of high school. States should require 
all public high school seniors to submit an application for 
admission to at least one of the state’s public community colleges 
or universities. State leaders should also require high schools to 
support students in applying for federal and state-based financial 
aid as a part of the process for applying to college. Providing 
high school districts with the support needed to increase 
the capacity for college advising at every high school will be 
essential to ensure this recommendation has a meaningful 
and measurable impact on improving access to postsecondary 
education, especially for Black, Latino, Native American, and 
Pacific Islander men who tend to be among the students who 
are least likely to matriculate to college immediately upon 
completing high school.  

2.  Invest in Dual Enrollment Programs that Target Boys of Color 

–  Federal and Statewide policies and initiatives that are focused 
on increasing the enrollment and success of men of color in 
postsecondary education must do more to address the cracks in 
the pipeline that turn boys and men away from education. One 
strategy to do so is to invest in dual enrollment programs that 

target boys of color in high school. Dual enrollment programs 
provide access to college courses to students while they are 
concurrently enrolled in high school. There are several benefits 
to dual enrollment for all students, notably: decreasing high 
school dropout rates, increasing college-going rates, facilitating 
transitions to college, and exposing students to academically 
rigorous curricula. These programs have long been popular 
amongst high-achieving students and families that seek to get 
a head start in postsecondary education. Thus, students who 
have been historically underserved in education; including 
Black, Latino, Native American, and Pacific Islander males, have 
been underrepresented in dual enrollment programs. Given the 
benefits of dual enrollment, state policymakers should consider 
heavily investing in these programs and ensuring that boys of 
color are equitably represented in them. Moreover, some states 
may find it worthwhile to establish dual enrollment programs in 
Career and Technical Education (CTE) programs that garner the 
interests of young men, meet workforce needs in the state, and 
lead to careers that pay livable wages. In doing so, it is important 
to not track boys of color into CTE programs. Collecting the data 
that are necessary to ensure the equitable representation of males 
of color across all dual enrollment programs will be necessary. 
Finally, high-quality dual enrollment programs are those that 
do a good job of engaging parents and facilitating disciplinary 
partnerships between high school and college instructors to align 
the high school and college curricula.      

3.  Establish An Intersegmental Statewide Initiative to Improve 

Educational Outcomes for Boys and Men of Color with Measurable 

Goals for Enrollment, Retention, and Completion – State leaders 
should establish a statewide initiative with measurable goals 
and outcomes for high school completion, matriculation to 
postsecondary education, and completion of college degrees and 
certificates for males of color. For example, the overall 4-year 

40



12    Increasing the Enrollment, Retention, and Success of Men of Color in Community Colleges

graduation rate for California high school students in 2020-2021 
was 83.6% (California Department of Education, 2022). However, 
the graduation rates for African American, American Indian/
Alaska Native, Latino, and Pacific Islander boys in the cohort 
were 67.3%, 68.3%, 76%, and 78.7%, respectively. A policy that 
requires the graduation rates for disproportionately impacted 
subgroups to be within certain percentage points (e.g., “no less 
than 3%”) of the overall graduation rate could garner the urgency 
that is necessary for districts to improve them. A similar approach 
should be considered for college preparation and matriculation. 
For example, 52% of all students in the aforementioned cohort of 
2020-2021 California high school graduates met the requirements 
to enroll in one of the State’s public universities. Yet, only 35% 
of African American males, 27.4% of American Indian/Alaska 
Native males, 37.8% of Latino males, and 39% of Pacific Islander 
males met these requirements, which means that these students 
were not admissible to one of the State’s 32 public universities. 
State policies that address racial/ethnic and gender disparities in 
high school to college matriculation are needed. While increasing 
the number of men of color enrolling in postsecondary education 
will help to improve the status of men of color, ensuring that men 
of color actually earn postsecondary degrees and certificates is 
also necessary.        

4.  Invest in Robust Data Systems with Disaggregated Data – Having 
easily available access to real-time postsecondary student 
data that are disaggregated by subgroups (e.g., race/ethnicity, 
gender, disability status, foster youth status, and socioeconomic 
status) is essential for educators to target resources and support 
to students who are impacted by equity gaps and outcome 
disparities. Yet, these data are often unavailable, difficult to 
access, or not updated in a timely manner in most states. At 
the federal level, data are also difficult to come by in many 
cases given the nature of collection structure and student-unit 
record prohibitions preventing longitudinal success tracking. 
Efforts to improve postsecondary access and success for men 
of color cannot be as timely and targeted as they need to be 
in the absence of these data. Thus, statewide investments in 
robust data systems that track students from their enrollment 
in kindergarten through postsecondary education are essential 
to measure the extent to which men of color are being served 

equitably in the state and to improve accountability for their 
success. Further, the federal government should examine how 
it is examining these successes, which is particularly important 
when evaluating the success of stop-out students who return, 
using federal financial supports. These same data can be used to 
create and publish scorecards that inform the public on how well 
high school districts and postsecondary institutions in the state 
are achieving equitable outcomes for boys and men of color.  

5.  Hold Institutional Leaders Accountable for Increasing the Enrollment, 

Retention, and Success of Men of Color – Institutional leaders 
prioritize goals for which they are evaluated and held 
accountable. Far too often, the success of boys and men of 
color is treated as negotiable and not given the attention and 
resources that other institutional goals are afforded. Therefore, 
if increasing the postsecondary enrollment, retention, and 
success of men of color is indeed a state priority, then college, 
university, and system leaders must be evaluated based on how 
their institutions meet this goal. Every postsecondary leader 
in the state should have clearly articulated goals and metrics 
for improving outcomes for men of color upon which their 
performance is evaluated each year in a manner that is similar 
to how they are evaluated for meeting fundraising goals. In 
addition, candidates who are interviewing for leadership 
positions in public postsecondary institutions should be expected 
to present a plan for how they will close equity gaps for men of 
color if they are selected for the position.  

6.  Support Statewide Efforts that Reduce or Eliminate Cost as a Barrier 

to Access – Promise grants and other statewide efforts that reduce 
or eliminate cost as a barrier to enrolling in community college 
are essential to increase the enrollment of men of color. Both the 
COVID-19 pandemic and the rapidly increasing cost of living in 
the United States have had a deleterious impact on enrollment 
in postsecondary education. Men of color, notably Black, Latino, 
and Native American men, have experienced the most significant 
enrollment decreases when compared to enrollments prior to 
Spring 2020. In addition, socially constructed messages about 
masculinity that suggest to men that the only value they bring to 
a household is that which fulfills breadwinner expectations have 
always created anxiety and gender role conflict for men who 

41



Increasing the Enrollment, Retention, and Success of Men of Color in Community Colleges    13

Every postsecondary leader in the state should have clearly articulated 
goals and metrics for improving outcomes for men of color upon which 
their performance is evaluated each year in a manner that is similar to 

how they are evaluated for meeting fundraising goals.

are expected to take care of their families. Given these trends 
and challenges, it is important to keep the cost of attending 
community college as low as possible.   

The recommendations that follow are proposed to institutions 
and institutional leaders who are concerned about or charged with 
improving the enrollment, retention, and success of men of color. 

1.  Incorporate Enrollment, Retention, and Completion Goals into the 

Institution’s Strategic Plan – An institution’s strategic plan is perhaps 
the most public and transparent documented account of its goals 
and priorities. Thus, community colleges that are serious about 
men of color’s enrollment, retention, and completion will have 
these goals clearly articulated in their strategic plans. In doing 
so, the strategic plan should discuss how the success of men of 
color is aligned with the institution’s mission and vision, state the 
current status of each male of color group on each goal, present 
annual benchmarks of expected progress on each goal, and discuss 
institutional resources that will be invested towards achieving 
each goal.  

2.  Build the Capacity of All Educators to Serve Men of Color Equitably 

and Responsibly (professional learning) – Faculty, staff, and 
administrators who are well-positioned to support the 
enrollment, retention, and success of men of color must 
build their capacities to serve them equitably and responsibly. 
Therefore, it is important for institutions to ensure that every 
educator understands the lived experiences of boys and men of 
color in education; and can employ teaching, learning, leadership, 
and support strategies that have been proven effective in 
serving men of color. Towards this end, institutions can ensure 
every educator has access to high-quality professional learning 
experiences that are designed and delivered by facilitators with 
expertise on men of color. Some campuses may have educators 
working at the institution with this expertise. Professional 
learning can be made available to campus educators in a range of 
ways including in-person or online workshops, credit-bearing 
professional learning courses, asynchronous online experiences, 
or attending conferences (to name some). Regardless of how 
professional learning is made available, educators should have 
some responsibility to share what they have learned with their 

colleagues at the institution and should be required to report how 
they will incorporate the lessons learned into their work with 
men of color. Finally, it may be useful to ask educators to develop 
annual professional learning plans that include at least one goal on 
building their capacities to serve men of color and activities they 
will undertake throughout the year to achieve this goal.

3.  Coordinate Efforts Around Basic Needs – Black and Latino men 
are overrepresented among community college students who 
experience food, housing, and other basic needs insecurities 
(Wood & Harris III, 2018). Basic needs insecurity adversely 
impacts student success, specifically enrollment, persistence, 
retention, and completion. Community colleges have made 
significant progress over the past five years in supporting students 
who experience food and housing insecurities by enacting efforts 
like food pantries, clothing closets, and emergency grants. Some 
have gone so far as to use social media and apps to notify students 
when free food is available on campus. However, the COVID-19 
pandemic and the racial reckoning that took place in 2020 have 
illuminated how mental health and access to technology also 
are core basic needs that directly affect students’ engagement 
and success in community college. As is the case with food and 
housing insecurities, men of color are disproportionately impacted 
by mental health concerns and a lack of access to technology. 
Institutions must engage in intentional and targeted messaging and 
interventions to ensure that men of color are equitably represented 
amongst the students who access basic needs resources. Again, this 
is necessary given men of color’s tendencies to not enact proactive 
help-seeking behaviors.    

4.  Establish Industry Partnerships with Career and Technical Education 

Programs – Most students, particularly those who do not enroll 
directly after high school, attend community college with the 
hope and expectation of accessing employment that can improve 
their quality of life and the lives of their families. To do so, it is 
important that students not only gain the academic knowledge 
that is necessary to compete for high-quality jobs but also 
the practical, hands-on experience they need to demonstrate 
competency. Community colleges must establish partnerships 
between their Career and Technical Education programs and 
industry partners who provide access to jobs that pay a livable 

42



14    Increasing the Enrollment, Retention, and Success of Men of Color in Community Colleges

wage. Internships that get students the work experience they 
need to be competitive candidates in the industry can go a 
long way toward meeting this important goal. Established 
partnerships between the colleges and industry partners that 
involve program faculty and are designed for students in the 
program are desirable because they relieve students of the 
burden of having to establish them. Another practice that can 
make it easier for students to do an internship is for them to 
be paid for their labor. While this may not be feasible in all 
industries and programs, paying students can help to relieve cost 
as a burden for students who do not have the financial means to 
do an unpaid internship.

5.  Establish a Presidential Task Force to Examine the Experiences and 

Outcomes of Men of Color and Propose Recommendations for Increasing 

Enrollment, Retention, and Completion – Although men of color 
who are enrolled in community colleges are often impacted by 
the same challenges, contextual factors that are situated within 
institutions impacts the salience of these challenges and how 
they are experienced by men of color. Institutions that are in 
the early phases of enacting a comprehensive effort to improve 
the experiences and success of men of color may benefit from 
establishing a presidential task force to do this work on behalf 
of the college. The task force should be composed of a diverse 
group of campus stakeholders who represent instruction, student 
services, men of color, and perhaps the local community. The 
task force must have a clear charge from the president and clear 
expectations of the timeline, reporting, and deliverables. Finally, 
it is important to keep the college’s governing board (if applicable) 
informed of the work of the task force–especially if the group 
will propose recommendations that require an investment of 
institutional resources.    

6.  Lift the Voices of Men of Color – Institutional efforts to increase 
the enrollment, retention, and success of men of color must be 
informed by direct insights that are shared by men of color. Far 

too often, educational leaders enact student success programs, 
policies, and interventions that have not been adequately vetted 
by the students they are supposed to serve. In addition, some 
institutions fall short in lifting the voices of men of color by 
only reaching out to a homogeneous subset of men of color 
(e.g., student leaders, those who attend full-time, students who 
enroll directly out of high school) rather than engaging a diverse 
group of men who better reflect the larger male of color student 
population. Institutions must periodically lift the voices of men 
of color by way of interviews, listening sessions, focus groups, 
or other qualitative inquiry strategies that enable men of color to 
share how they are experiencing the institution. In doing so, it is 
important to compensate students for their time and willingness 
to share their stories–particularly because they are doing so to 
improve institutional effectiveness. Finally, regardless of the form 
and structure they take, these conversations must be facilitated by 
someone who fully understands the experiences of men of color 
in education and is skilled at facilitating dialogue with students.       

7.  Align Faculty Hiring, Tenure, and Promotion Policies with 

Institutional Efforts to Close Student Equity Gaps – Like institutional 
leaders, faculty members should also be expected to contribute 
to institutional efforts to improve outcomes for men of color. 
In doing so, institutions can incorporate equity goals into 
faculty hiring, tenure, and promotion processes. Toward this 
end, faculty who are applying for positions should be expected 
to speak transparently about how they can meet the learning 
needs of disproportionately impacted students at the institution. 
Faculty who are being considered for tenure and promotion 
should also share how their teaching has had a direct impact 
on the success of disproportionately impacted students in their 
courses. Finally, colleges can incorporate questions that ask 
students to comment on how their instructors have infused 
equity into their courses and the impact it had on their learning 
in the end-of-class evaluations. 

Institutions must periodically lift the voices of men of color 
by way of interviews, listening sessions, focus groups, or other 

qualitative inquiry strategies that enable men of color to share 
how they are experiencing the institution.

43



Increasing the Enrollment, Retention, and Success of Men of Color in Community Colleges    15

REFERENCES

 Bensimon, E. M. (2007). The underestimated significance of 
practitioner knowledge in the scholarship of student success. 
Review of Higher Education, 30, 441–469.

Deming, W. E. (n.d.). W. Edwards Deming quotes. Ketchum, ID: 
The W. Edwards Deming Institute. 

California Department of Education (2022). DataQuest.   
https://www.cde.ca.gov/ds/ad/dataquest.asp  

Geary, C. (2022, Jan 25). Community college enrollment declines 
threaten to worsen educational inequity. New America. Retrieved 
September 4, 2022, from: https://www.newamerica.org/education-
policy/edcentral/community-college-enrollment/

Harris III, F., Felix, E. R., Bensimon, E. M., Wood, J. L., Mercado, 
A., Monge, O. & Falcon, V. (2017). Supporting men of color in 

community colleges: An examination of promising practices and California 

student equity plans. San Francisco, CA: College Futures Foundation.

Harper, S. R. (2009). N****s no more: A critical race 
counternarrative on Black male student achievement at 
predominantly White colleges and universities. International 

Journal of Qualitative Studies in Education, 22(6), 697-712.

Harris III, F., & Wood, J. L. (2016). Applying the socio‐ecological 
outcomes model to the student experiences of men of color. 
New Directions for Community Colleges, 2016(174), 35-46.

 Karp, M. M., Calcagno, J. C., Hughes, K. L., Jeong, D. W., & Bailey, 
T. R. (2009). The postsecondary achievement of participants in dual 

enrollment: An analysis of student outcomes in two states. New York, NY:  
Community College Research Center.

Smith, C. J. (2018). Trustee Handbook. A Publication of the 
Community College League of California. Community College 

League of California. 
 
Wood, J. L., & Harris III, F. (2017). Supporting men of color in the 

community college: A guidebook. Lawndale Hill Publishing.

Wood, J. L., & Harris III, F. (2018). Experiences with “acute” 
food insecurity among college students. Educational Researcher, 

47(2), 142-145.

Wood, J. L., Harris III, F., & White, K. (2015). Teaching men of color 

in the community college: A guidebook. Montezuma Publishing.

Wood, J. L., Harrison, J. D., & Jones, T. K. (2016). Black Males’ 
Perceptions of the Work–College Balance: The Impact of 
Employment on Academic Success in the Community College. 
The Journal of Men’s Studies, 24(3), 326–343. 

Wood, J. L., & Hilton, A. A., & Hicks, T. (2014). Motivational 
factors for academic success: Perspectives of African American males 
in the community college. The National Journal of Urban Education & 

Practice, 7(3), 247-263.

Wood, J. L., Palmer, R. T., & Harris III, F. (2015). Men of color in 
community colleges. In S. Smart (Ed.), Higher Education: Handbook of 

Theory and Research. Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer.

U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education 
Statistics, Integrated Postsecondary Education Data System 
(IPEDS), Winter 2015-16 and Winter 2020-21, Graduation 
Rates component. 

U.S. Department of Education (2016a). National Postsecondary 
Student Aid Study: 2016 Undergraduates (NPSAS:UG) SECTOR10, 
RACE, and GENDER. Washington, DC: National Center for 
Education Statistics. 

U.S. Department of Education (2016b). National Postsecondary 
Student Aid Study: 2016 Undergraduates (NPSAS:UG) GPA, 
RACESEX, and SECTOR10. Washington, DC: National Center 
for Education Statistics. 

U.S. Department of Education (2017). Beginning Postsecondary 
Students Longitudinal Study (BPS) STYB6Y, RACESEX, 
and FSECTOR. Washington, DC: National Center for 
Education Statistics. 

44

https://www.newamerica.org/education-policy/edcentral/community-college-enrollment/
https://www.newamerica.org/education-policy/edcentral/community-college-enrollment/


1101 17th Street NW, Suite 300   
Washington, DC 20036

www.acct.org
45



 

46



DRAFT 

Peninsula College  

BOARD OF TRUSTEE SELF EVALUATION  

1=Unacceptable 2=Below average 3=Average 4=Above average 5=Superior 

 

1. Board Organization and Development:    1    2    3    4    5  
a. The Board operates as a unit; members work together as a team to accomplish the 

work of the Board 
b. Board members represent Board policy in responding to public and employee 

questions 
c. Board meetings are conducted in an orderly, efficient manner 
d. Meeting agenda items include sufficient background information and 

recommendations are relevant to the Board 
e. Board meetings provide appropriate time to explore and resolve issues 
f. New members of the Board receive orientation to Board roles and the college 
g. Board members participate in trustee learning activities 
h. The Board understands and adheres to the open meetings law 
i. The Board maintains confidentiality of privileged information 
j. The Board operate ethically without conflict of interest 
k. The Board evaluation process helps the Board enhance its performance 

 
Comments___________________________________________________ 

 
2. Policy Role and Direction      1    2    3    4    5 

a. The Board understands that its primary function is to establish the policies by 
which the College is to be administered 

b. The Board has clarified the difference between its policy role and the roles of the 
President and the staff 

c. The Board, through the President, seeks advice and recommendations from 
faculty, staff, and students in developing policy 

d. The Board is appropriately involved in the planning process and is familiar with 
the general strategic and master plans of the College 
 
Comments _____________________________________________________ 
 

3. Community Relations      1    2    3    4    5 
a. The Board is committed to protecting the public interest 
b. The Board is knowledgeable about community interests 
c. The Board assists in developing partnerships with community agencies, 

businesses, and local governments where appropriate 

Comments _____________________________________________________ 

47



4. Standards for College Operations and Performance  1    2    3    4    5 
a. The Board is knowledgeable about the programs and services offered by the 

College 
b. The Board approves the budget document and assures the budget reflects the 

mission, goals, and priorities of the college 
c. The Board has policies that require fair and equitable processes 
d. The Board monitors the effectiveness of the College in fulfilling its mission 
e. The Board understands the fiscal condition of the College 
f. The Board is involved in the accreditation process, as appropriate 

Comments _____________________________________________________ 

 

5. Advocating the College:       1    2    3    4    5 
a. Board members actively support the mission and Guiding Principles of the 

College 
b. The Board advocates for College interests as appropriate 
c. Board members participate in community activities as representatives of the 

College 
d. The Board actively seeks to understand state and national educational policy 

issues 
e. The Board advocates for College interest to regional, state and national 

agencies and legislators 
 

6. Board/President Relations      1    2    3    4    5 
a. The Board and President have a positive, cooperative relationships 
b. The Board provides a high level of support to the President 
c. The Board maintains open communication with the President 
d. The Board annually develops goals and objectives that are used in the 

evaluation of the President 
e. The Board understands the role of the President as the link between the 

Board and the staff 

Question Response 
1. What are the Board’s greatest 

strengths? 
 

2. What are the major 
accomplishments of the Board in 
the past year? 

 

3. In order for the Board to continue 
performing at a high level, we need 
to…. 

 

4. I recommend the Board establishes 
the following goals for the coming 
year… 

 

 

48



DRAFT  
Peninsula College 

PRESIDENTIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW 
 
The purpose of performance reviews is to assess and discuss performance of the President. This 
form contains a list of presidential functions and performance goals. The Board of Trustees, 
among themselves and with the president, discusses performance for each function and objective. 
During this process, the Board completes the rating scale in a manner that results in the 
consensus of the Board. The Chair signs the form on behalf of the Board for the permanent 
record. 

1=Unacceptable 2=Below Average 3=Average 4=Above Average 5=Superior 

 

1. Community/Legislative Relations   1 2 3 4 5 
a. Maintains effective relationships with the media and community leaders to make 
the community aware of college activities 
b. Active in the community fostering relationships to create educational 
opportunities throughout the District 
c. Actively communicate with legislators to convey local and statewide needs for 
community colleges 

Comments______________________________________________________ 

 

2. Educational Planning    1 2 3 4  
a. Manages enrollment consistent with or better than regional and statewide trends 
b. Provides leadership in formal and informal assessment of educational 

opportunities in the community 
c. Provides leadership in formal evaluation and assessment of educational program 

quality and innovative educational practices 

Comments______________________________________________________ 

 

3. Budget Oversight     1 2 3 4 5 
a. Provides oversight and management of college budget assuring proper allocations 

to meet college needs and management 
b. Oversees collegewide engagement in budget development process through shared 

governance and effective decision making 
c. Seeks external funding to augment state funding sources to foster innovation 

 
Comments______________________________________________________ 

 

 

49



4. Personnel and Labor Relations   1 2 3 4 5 
a. Supports and pursues good faith negotiations with employee groups and 

associations, and respects the role of the contract in labor relations 
b. Develops and promotes professional development activities for faculty and staff 

to support retention and employee growth 
c. Fosters an equitable hiring process that results in employees mirroring student 

demographics 
d. Creates an environment that supports shared governance, collaboration and 

involvement throughout the college community 

Comments______________________________________________________ 

 

5. College Operations     1 2 3 4 5 
a. Assures the college’s plant and facilities are adequate for daily operations 
b. Utilizes organization and critical thinking skills to plan ahead, evaluate complex 

situations, anticipate problems, make decisions and use resources effectively to 
solve challenges 

c. Assure college operations are in place to effectively serve students as they pursue 
their educational goals, including student services, instructional and financial 
services 

Comments______________________________________________________ 

 

6. Communication Skills    1 2 3 4 5 
a. Regularly and effectively communicates with the college community regarding 

statewide higher education issues and the state of the college 
b. Regularly and effectively communicates with the college community to gather 

feedback and offer rationales for decision making  
c. Create a college environment that fosters input, feedback and collaborative 

decision making 

Comments______________________________________________________ 

 

7. Strategic Planning/Accreditation   1 2 3 4 5 
a. Engages the entire college in execution of the strategic plan, including resource 

allocation and analysis of efforts 
b. Tracks progress toward strategic planning goals and effectively communicates 

progress to the college community, adjusting strategy along the way based on 
analysis 

c. Assures accreditation processes are proactive and in line with regional 
accreditation standards 

Comments______________________________________________________ 

50



8. Diversity, Equity and Inclusion   1 2 3 4 5 
a. Develops and pursues specific action plan to put diversity, equity and inclusion at 

the forefront of the college 
b. Supports and promotes the recruitment and retention of diverse faculty and staff. 
c. Fosters a diverse, enriching, safe, inclusive, equitable working and learning 

environment 

Comments______________________________________________________ 

 

9. Board Relations     1 2 3 4 5 
a. Assists the Board in serving as advocates of the College to legislators and in the 

community 
b. Keeps the Board informed of statewide higher education issues and the state of 

the college  
c. Informs the Board of trends and issues impacting enrollment and the financial 

health of the college 
d. Provides the Board with data to assess the health of the institution, including the 

strategic plan core themes  

Comments______________________________________________________ 

 

10. College Community     1 2 3 4 5 
a. Assures college community has Guiding Principles at the forefront and culture is 

positive 
b. Accessible to employees and supports access to the President for all employees  
c. Accessible to students and concerned about their welfare 

Comments______________________________________________________ 

  

11. Professional Growth     1 2 3 4 5 
a. Utilizes professional organizations to keep abreast of new and innovative 

practices and programs 
b. Seeks opportunities for stretch and grow in leadership experiences 
c. Demonstrates willingness to take risks in attempting new and innovative practices 

and programs 
Comments______________________________________________________ 

 

51



PENINSULA COLLEGE 
BOARD INFORMATION 

 
 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND: 
 
Peninsula College Emeritus Status is conferred by the College’s Board of Trustees and 
is intended to be a formal means for recognizing continued meritorious service by full-
time and associate Peninsula College faculty and administrators. 
 
Individuals who qualify for Emeriti Status include: 
 

1. Faculty or administration who serve Peninsula College for at least 10 years 
and retire in good standing; and 

2. Faculty or administrators who die prior to retirement from service, but who 
have served at least ten years. 
 

Peninsula College Meritorious Service Status is conferred by the college’s board of 
trustees and is intended to be a formal means for recognizing continuing meritorious 
service by Peninsula College Classified staff.   
 
Individuals who qualify for Meritorious Service Status include: 
 

1. Those classified staff who served Peninsula College for at least ten years and 
who retire in good standing; 

2. Classified staff who die prior to retirement from service, but who have served 
at least ten years in good standing. 

 
 
 PROPOSAL: 
 

The Board consider granting Emeritus Status to Luke Robins and Vicki Sievert and 
Meritorious Service Status to Jan Isett, Nicole Casares, and Larry White at the 
November 8, 2022, meeting of the Board of Trustees. 

RECOMMENDTION:  The President recommends that the Board grant Emeritus 
Status to Luke Robins and Vicki Sievert and Meritorious Service Status to Jan 
Isett, Nicole Casares, and Larry White at the November 8, 2022, meeting of the 
Board of Trustees. 

Subject: EMERITUS STATUS –Luke Robins and Vicki Sievert 
MERITORIOUS STATUS- Jan Isett, Nicole Casares, and Larry White 

52


	Nov. 2022 Board of Trustees Cover Letter
	Board Agenda Nov 2022
	ITEMS FOR BOARD ACTION

	DRAFT Board of Trustees Minutes 10112022
	Dwayne Johnson, Board Chair       Date
	Suzy Ames, President           Date

	IE Report Nov 2022
	Institutional Effectiveness 
	Core Theme: Advancing Student Success
	First-Time Entering College (FTEC) Dashboard
	Measurable Skills Gains�
	College-level Math in the 1st year
	College-level English in the 1st year
	Completions within 3 years
	Voluntary Framework of Accountability (VFA) data and dashboards
	College-level Math in the 2nd year
	College-level English in the 2nd year
	Award and/or Transfer within Six Years

	2022_10_28 Fall Enrollment Report
	Board Report

	FYR 2223 1st Q Board Report
	FYR 2223 1st Q Board Report.pdf
	FYR 2223 1st Q Board Reports BS
	FYR 2223 1st Q Board Reports PL

	1st qtr financial trends.pdf

	Transforming lives T.Atkisson
	Transforming Lives Board Letter 22-23
	ACCT Center for Policy and Practice (Men of Color in Community Colleges Full Report) FINAL
	_Hlk116043388
	_Hlk116043353

	Strategic Plan feedback
	Board Evaluation Proposal Draft
	President Evaluation Proposal DRAFT
	Emeritus Meritorious  Background - 2022



